#### "Reduce, Reuse, Recycle:

## Government recycling communication practice in Kazakhstan, the case of Astana municipality"

by

Akbota Amantay

Amina Chaia

#### **POLICY ANALYSIS EXERCISE**

Submitted to

Nazarbayev University School of Public Policy

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

MASTER IN PUBLIC POLICY

Astana, Kazakhstan

April 14, 2023

#### «Қысқарту, қайта пайдалану, қайта өңдеу:

# Астана қаласының әкімдігі мысалында Қазақстандағы қалдықтарды қайта өндеу бойынша мемлекеттік коммуникациялар тәжірибесі»

авторлары:

Амантай Ақбота

Чайа Амина

#### САЯСАТТЫ ТАЛДАУ БОЙЫНША ЖАТТЫҒУ

#### МЕМЛЕКЕТТІК САЯСАТ МАГИСТРІ

дәрежесін алу үшін

Назарбаев Университеті Жоғары мемлекеттік саясат мектебіне тапсырылған

> Астана қаласы, Қазақстан 2023 жылғы 14 сәуір

## **«Сокращать, повторно использовать, перерабатывать:**

# Практика государственных коммуникаций по утилизации отходов в Казахстане на примере муниципалитета Астаны"

выполнено

Амантай Акбота

Чайа Амина

#### ПРАКТИЧЕСКОЕ ЗАДАНИЕ ПО АНАЛИЗУ ПОЛИТИКИ

представлено в

в Высшую школу государственной политики

Назарбаев Университета

в рамках

частичного выполнения требований для получения степени МАГИСТРА ГОСУДАРСТВЕННОЙ ПОЛИТИКИ

Астана, Казахстан

14 апреля 2023 года

#### **ABSTRACT**

This research aims to examine how the current recycling communication practices are implemented by the Akimat of Astana and measure how well these practices contribute to citizens' awareness about the recycling issues and facilities in Astana. Despite having extensive facilities for recycling, Astana only recycles 30% of its waste, which is not sufficient enough to reduce the solid waste that goes into landfills. An effective recycling communication policy is necessary to solve this problem, and this research conducts semi-structured interviews with Akimat officials and their contractors, citizens and ecoactivists and a survey to learn more about the existing recycling communication tools and their effectiveness. The results of our findings show that there is a lack of a recycling communication policy in Astana. Moreover, the existing recycling communication tools are ineffective and the existing practices have a limited impact on the awareness of citizens.

#### **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

We would like to express our sincere gratitude to our thesis advisor, Dr. Artan Karini, for his valuable guidance throughout this project. His expertise and dedication have played an important role in helping us achieve our research goals. Our team would also like to thank the members of the GSPP faculty for their insightful feedback and suggestions, which helped us improve the quality of our work. Finally, we would like to acknowledge the support of our family and friends, whose encouragement and love have been a constant source of inspiration.

#### **CONTENTS**

ABSTRACT	4
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	5
CONTENTS	6
CHAPTER 1 - INTRODUCTION	8
1.1. Background	8
1.2. Problem Statement and Research Questions	9
1.3. Implications and Importance of Study	11
CHAPTER 2 - LITERATURE REVIEW	12
2.1. Government Use of Communication as a Policy Tool	12
2.2. Global recycling communication tools	13
2.3. Citizen participation and engagement	16
2.4. Best citizen communication practices	19
2.5. Citizen participation challenges in recycling	20
2.6. Post-Soviet legacy in recycling and MSW	20
2.7. Current waste management legislative framework in Kazakhstan	21
2.8. The importance of media in the realization of communication policy in	
Kazakhstan	
2.9. Conceptual framework	25
CHAPTER 3 - METHODOLOGY	27
3.1. Data	27
3.2. Methods	28
3.3. Analysis	30
3.4. Ethical considerations	30
CHAPTER 4 - FINDINGS AND DATA ANALYSIS	32
CHAPTER 5 - DISCUSSION	39
CHAPTER 6 - CONCLUSION	42
6.1. Research summary	42
6.2. Practical implications	42
6.3. Limitations of the study	43
6.4. Policy recommendations	44
REFERENCES	46
ADDENDICES	52

Appendix 1. Questions for the survey of residents of the city of Astana	. 52
Appendix 2. Questions for interviews with officials of the Astana City Akimat	. 56
Appendix 3. Questions for interviews with private companies and eco-activists	. 57

#### **CHAPTER 1 - INTRODUCTION**

#### 1.1. Background

Utilization and recycling of municipal solid waste (MSW) is one of the most important environmental problems in Kazakhstan. In 2021, 754323 tons of waste were collected in Astana, which indicates that each resident of the capital generates about 1.5 kilograms of waste every day (Egov.kz, 2021). The management of MSW was declared as one of the main issues in the transition to a green economy by former president Nursultan Nazarbayev in 2013. In 2014 a presidential decree also developed a concept for Kazakhstan to become one of the "30 most developed countries in the world", according to which by 2030 the recycled waste share in Kazakhstan should be raised to 40% and to 50% by 2050 (Concept on the Entry of Kazakhstan, 2014). This research provides a detailed analysis of the current situation of Astana's communication policy on recycling, as well as public awareness of waste management. This study focuses on the city of Astana as the capital of Kazakhstan is getting extensive facilities in terms of recycling. Recycling is a very serious problem in Astana, since, considering all the investments and recycling facilities in the capital, only 30% of waste is recycled (Egov.kz, 2021). This may be a good percentage compared to other cities in Kazakhstan, or even at the national level, where the amount of solid waste increases by 4.5 million tons annually, of which only 15,8% is recycled (Egov.kz, 2021; Stat.gov.kz, 2021). As good as this percentage is comparatively, it is not sufficient enough to reduce the solid waste that goes into landfills. Currently, more than 45.7 million tonnes of waste have already been accumulated in Kazakhstan's official landfills (Bureau of National Statistics, 2020). Due to the high level of waste in landfills, since 2019 the authorities have banned the disposal of plastic, paper, and glass without pre-sorting (Environmental Code, 2019). Waste incineration at landfills releases hazardous chemical gasses containing toxic heavy metals, such as cadmium, mercury, lead, and other ozone gasses, such as methane and carbon dioxide (Manchenko, 2018). In addition to the landfill incineration issue, Astana has around 533 unofficial dumps all over the city (Egov.kz, 2021). Both incineration at landfills and unofficial dumps exacerbate environmental problems such as soil and water pollution and have a negative impact on human health. Therefore, recycling is considered as a sustainable waste management alternative. However, as mentioned before, the recycling levels in Astana remain disturbingly low.

One way through which this number can be improved is to improve the recycling communication. The goal of this study is to understand how recycling communication practices are implemented in Astana. To do so, the team interviewed the Akimat officials and their contractors i.e. the Clean City. This study also examined the recycling communication practices and how effective they have been based on Lee and Krieger (2020)'s work that has 6 distinct communication types. In addition to that, this research examined the existing recycling communication tools used by the Akimat of Astana. We identified that currently single channel deficit reduction and partially multichannel translational approaches are being used. To determine how effective the existing recycling communication practices have been in Astana, we conducted a survey among citizens and interviewed both eco-activists and citizens. The results of our findings show that the existing communication practices have a limited impact on the awareness of citizens. Therefore, cooperation between the state and the population as well as a reduction of communication gap between institutions is necessary. The state needs to properly inform the population about the necessity of sorting and recycling waste and provide clear guidelines based on the population's characteristics. This requires the development of an effective recycling communication policy.

This research consists of an in-depth literature review that focuses on the global, regional and national situation on recycling. This study analyzed using a specific research design, literature review, and methods of analysis and data collection. In this PAE both qualitative and quantitative research methods were used. For the data analysis part, thematic analysis and descriptive statistics were used for interpretation of the findings. The data analysis part is described in more detail in the rest of this paper.

#### 1.2. Problem Statement and Research Questions

Communication is an integral part of any waste management service, because to participate fully, residents need to be clear about what the services are, what the rules are and what happens to their waste after it is collected (Zero Waste Scotland Communications guidance 2012). In other words, the most important factor for effective recycling is not the amount of money or variety of recycling equipment purchased, but rather effective communication and close collaboration with the general public. Until government agencies do this it will be very difficult to achieve positive environmental behavior. The reasons for the difficulty in recycling can be considered the indifference of

the population, the unregulated administrative base, the lack of support from the local authorities and the opposition of garbage trucks, which are not interested in competition (Waste Recycling, 2018). These factors can also be the reason behind Astana's recycling problem. Promoting waste separation is possible through effective communication policies that are clear and understandable and are critical to improving solid waste management (Lee & Krieger, 2020). Identifying and understanding how recycling information is currently communicated in Kazakhstan is important to promote proper individual solid waste recycling behavior.

Kazakhstan has made significant investments in recycling facilities in Astana in recent years. According to data provided on Egov.kz, there are 6276 containers for separate collection, 370 containers for quicksilver lamps and batteries, 31 containers for the recycling of electric equipment in Astana (Egov.kz, 2021). However, the success of these facilities relies heavily on effective communication and collaboration with the public. Without clear and understandable communication policies, residents may not fully understand the rules and procedures for recycling, which could lead to low participation rates. To address these challenges, it is critical to promote waste separation through effective communication strategies. Despite our team's efforts to research the waste management practices in Astana, we were unable to determine the presence or effectiveness of a recycling program due to a lack of adequate communication tools and information sources at the initial stages of our PAE journey. As the team started conducting interviews, we found that there is in fact a system for recycling. However, finding information about the recycling program was a difficult task due to the lack of guidance and informative messages available. This means that despite an extensive infrastructure, color-coded recycling bins and the program, recycling communication practices from the Akimat remain questionable and unclear. Therefore, understanding how recycling information is currently communicated in Kazakhstan, specifically the capital, Astana, can help identify areas for improvement and promote proper recycling communication practices.

The objectives of this research are to investigate how the current recycling communication practices are implemented by the Akimat of Astana and measure how well these practices contribute to citizens' awareness about the recycling issues and facilities in Astana. First of all, this study analyzed how recycling communication is implemented in the capital of Kazakhstan. Namely, which stakeholders are responsible

for the implementation of the existing recycling communication practices. We identified the tools used by the Akimat and their contractors to encourage citizens to recycle. Another important focus of our research is to examine people's awareness of recycling as a result of recycling communication. We want to understand whether the recycling communication carried out by the Akimat reaches its target audience i.e. the citizens. We explored this through a review of the literature on recycling communication, global and regional practices, and present our findings through a specific research design and data collection methods.

The research questions we will address are as follows:

**General research question:** How effective is the existing recycling communication strategy in Akimat of Astana?

**Research question #1:** How is the communication policy in recycling implemented in Astana?

**Research question #2:** What are the tools of recycling communication used by the Akimat of Astana?

**Research question #3:** How do recycling communication practices influence people's awareness?

#### 1.3. Implications and Importance of Study

The study on the recycling communication practices in Astana, Kazakhstan has important implications for waste management and environmental sustainability not just in the city but also in the country as a whole. With the increasing amount of waste generated and accumulated in landfills, it is critical to develop effective communication strategies that promote proper waste separation and recycling behavior among the general public. The study highlights the existing communication gaps and limitations in Astana's recycling communication practices, and the need for a more comprehensive and collaborative approach between the government, citizens, and eco-activists. The findings of this study can inform the development of a more effective and sustainable recycling communication policy in Astana, which can ultimately contribute to reducing the amount of waste going to landfills, decreasing environmental pollution and promoting a greener economy.

#### **CHAPTER 2 - LITERATURE REVIEW**

The literature review is organized into eight sections, each exploring research and findings related to recycling communication practices. Additionally, the last section deals with the conceptual framework for this PAE. The first section examines the government's use of communication as a policy tool, with a focus on Howlett's work. The second section reviews a wide range of literature on recycling communication tools from around the world. The third section discusses citizen participation while the fourth section discusses best citizen communication practices. The fifth section shows the citizen participation challenges in recycling. Sixth section shows scholars' work on post-soviet legacy in recycling and MSW. Seventh and eighth sections focus on Kazakhstan, where the prior deals with literature on the current waste management framework in Kazakhstan and the latter is about the importance of media in the realization of communication policy in Kazakhstan. The literature review concludes with a summary table of the authors cited in this review. The final section of this chapter presents a conceptual framework based on Lee and Krieger's (2020) work.

#### 2.1. Government Use of Communication as a Policy Tool

There are many scholarly views on the ways that governments can influence the public through communication. Howlett has written extensively on policy and communication, including the use of communication tools and strategies to generate support for policy initiatives. One article that specifically addresses this topic notes that effective communication can be used to "package" policy initiatives in a way that aligns with policymakers' goals and generates public support (Howlett & Rayner, 2013). Additionally, he highlights the importance of finding the right tool for the situation. Howlett presents policy tools as an important aspect of policy formulation, where the government must find the right tool for the right situation at hand (Howlett, 2020). This can be done through trial-and-error, or through analyzing the situation systematically. One of the main policy instruments is information-based (Howlett, 2020). For example, governments can use information collection and dissemination to inform, but not necessarily require action from citizens, for example, through campaigns, advertising, or passive information. He suggests that the ability to interpret the information from the public's side depends on their social and economic status, the quantity of information presented, and the way the information is presented. He also introduces exhortation as an information-based tool from the "NATO toolkit", which is when the government is trying more to influence actions and public preferences. Some examples can be, through public advertisements to act in certain ways, or through recorded meetings of government officials with other specialists, experts of certain fields, or spokespeople, in order to increase the legitimacy of a topic being raised in the eyes of the public (Howlett, 2020). Although communication as a policy tool is effective, and the cheapest method for government action, it needs to be used with other policy tools, Howlett argues, since it is not as long-lived (Howlett, 2020).

#### 2.2. Global recycling communication tools

Kok & Siero (1985) investigated the factors that affect program participants' willingness to recycle tin. The authors rely on the theory of attitude change and behavioral change through communication, which implies a step-by-step approach. The authors used a stepwise participation model that combines three theoretical perspectives: (1) attitude change through communication; (2) relationships among beliefs, attitudes, intentions, and behaviors; and (3) acceptance of responsibility. Essentially, the aim of this research was to study the relationship between the various stages in the model, where the stages were divided as follows: awareness, comprehension, attitude, intention, behavior and behavior maintenance. The data is collected from 586 female residents of a mid-sized Dutch town between the ages of 20 and 65 who received mail-in questionnaires to complete were used to collect the data in order to build the model. A clear distinction is made between attention, comprehension, attitude change, and behavioral change are made by McGuire (1973). According to the authors, people will be more likely to participate in a tinrecycling program based on these factors: (a) attend to information about the program; (b) comprehend what the program entails, and; (c) have a favorable attitude towards the program. The results regarding awareness show that the recycling program is unknown to one-third of the respondents. These participants, to a lesser extent, interact with prospective information sources, particularly newspapers and the board next to the container. When it comes to comprehension of the information, the results show that the program's goal and participation requirements are not always clearly understood by those who are aware of it. The best information sources seem to be newspapers. The study made by Kok & Seiro (1985) shows that awareness of the issue and comprehension play an important role in participants' willingness to recycle. However, these two components should be followed by one's intention to participate and good experiences with the

program in order to continue the recycling behavior (Kok and Siero, 1985). Although the study shows that using newspapers seems to be the best information source, it is important to highlight that some of the communication techniques used in this study are quite outdated.

Prior research illustrates that participation can be impacted by the effectiveness of the recycling experience. According to Taylor (1988), households become confused and uncooperative when awareness initiatives are poorly managed, lack consistency, reliability, and communication. Based on the results of other studies, the rate of recycling participation can be significantly impacted by people's poor comprehension of the program. Low participation rates may be caused by difficult and poorly communicated programs (Thomas, 2001). However, it is important to note that communication alone is not the solution to this problem. As stated previously, in order to continue recycling, citizens also need to have positive experiences with the program and the intention to participate (Kok and Siero, 1985). Recycling has both internal and extrinsic motives (De Young, 1986). Extrinsic motives come from outside forces like peer pressure and fear of fines, whereas intrinsic motivations come from inside impulses of recycling ("It is the right thing to do"). De Young (1986) found a strong correlation between intrinsic motivation and derived satisfactions, or the structure of satisfactions people obtain from acting in an environmentally responsible way. Another thing that the author found is that a long-term commitment to recycling comes from intrinsic motivating mechanisms rather than overt extrinsic solutions (De Young, 1986).

Another study conducted by Clarke and Maantay (2006) explores New York City's recycling program and mainly focuses on the potential causes of the disparity in recycling participation rates between neighborhoods. The authors used a weighted linear model to calculate a one-number descriptive measure, called the recycling education, awareness, and participation (REAP) index. The REAP index can therefore be used to target specific communities for assistance, set priorities for resources, and guide decision- and policy-making regarding strategies for boosting recycling education, awareness, and participation. Although the authors' main focus was on low-income apartments that had low participation rates in the recycling program. They suggested that one of the barriers may be rooted in the fact that education materials in the primary language (other than English) spoken at home and household square foot/per person information might be incorporated into the REAP index to improve the recycling rates. This is especially

important for a multicultural country like Kazakhstan, where Kazakh and Russian languages are both spoken.

Literature shows different citizen communication methods used to increase recycling participation rates. Reams & Ray (1994) conducted a study where they compared effects of three different prompting approaches on recycling participation. Reams and Ray (1994) list these approaches: "These approaches are: 1) the securing of pledges to recycle through direct, personal contact; 2) the securing of pledges through indirect contact; 3) the dissemination of educational information alone, with no personal contact or pledge" (p.371). The study was conducted in married student housing communities at Louisiana State University during a five-week test program. The results show that when pledges were obtained directly, recycling rates were much greater than when pledges were obtained indirectly or by just disseminating educational materials. However, it is important to note that what the authors argue is that it is not the pledging itself that direct-contact prompting increased recycling increases participation, but rather awareness, it also increased peer pressure to recycle, and improved information delivery. Therefore, these factors combined increased participation levels (Reams & Ray, 1994). The authors also recommend facilitating direct contact and human connection with potential participants in recycling programs as opposed to taking steps to obtain commitments directly (pledges). However, the authors recognize the costs of sending program staff to every home to talk about how important recycling is. Therefore, they suggest the introduction of "block leaders" and/or volunteers that explain the benefits of recycling and assist other residents can be a more manageable and economically feasible option that ensures direct-contact approach (Reams & Ray, 1994).

Another research shows that education, publicity and promotion are fundamental to the development of a local authorities' waste awareness campaign and for the success of any recycling scheme (Evison & Read, 2001). The authors conducted the study in three local authorities in England: Luton Borough, Shepway District, and Sutton London Borough. The aim of the study was to explore waste reduction promotion/publicity material, and the education and information policies provided by Local Authorities in order to assess their effectiveness, and identify any loopholes or omissions that exist in public awareness. As part of the investigation, which also included a survey of all available waste management-related media, the Recycling Officers of each of those authorities (Luton Borough, Shepway District, and Sutton London Borough) 150 families were contacted.

The success of these PR campaigns is evaluated in light of the survey results and the relevant authorities' recycling policy. The authors conclude that when designing the delivery of a recycling service, it should contain comprehensive education and publicity elements (Evison & Read, 2001). Also, regular quality promotion and publicity will result in improved recycling performance figures, whereas poor quality promotion, or none at all, will result in low recycling rates. The authors also highlight the fact that local newspapers are not always the best means of informing the public to use for promotion (Evison & Read, 2001). Moreover, they emphasize that if frequent reminders are not used, public awareness will wane. Regular leaflets help to preserve public awareness (Evison & Read, 2001).

Existing social research about recycling generally focuses on discerning distinction between those who recycle and those who don't. Vining and Ebreo (1990) argue that recyclers differ from non-recyclers in three potential ways. First, the accessibility of knowledge on recycling and awareness of the issue. Second factor that influences people to recycle is the perception of the importance of reasons for recycling. Among those reasons are concerns for financial reward, altruism, environmental quality, social pressure. A third class of reasons for not recycling is the inconvenience of the process, which include preparation, storing, and transport of the materials.

Derksen and Gartrell discuss the social context of recycling, where research suggests that more highly educated individuals tend to participate to a greater extent in recycling (Derksen and Gartrell, 1993). However, it's important to note that concern for the environment and education alone do not have a significant impact on recycling activity. According to Derksen and Gartrell, the most important factor for recycling is access to structured, institutionalized program that makes recycling easy and convenient.

#### 2.3. Citizen participation and engagement

The lives of its citizens depend to a large extent on the policies pursued by the state, so they are interested in participating in them and expressing their opinions. The right to political participation is a sign of a developed society based on the rule of law, which takes care that all its members can freely pursue their interests. The Constitution of the Republic of Kazakhstan enshrines the right of all citizens of the country to participate in political life. They may do so either independently or through their representatives. Citizens' participation in political life is required for everyone to be able to express their

opinions, attract the state's attention to the most serious problems, and influence the process of making state decisions. It can be achieved in a variety of ways. Citizens, for example, can take part in elections, referendums, and rallies, as well as apply to the authorities. They can also wield power through their representatives, i.e. political parties (The Constitution of the Republic of Kazakhstan, 2021).

According to Rasila and Mudau (2013), despite a number of communication mechanisms and models implemented by the government, there is a communication gap between state institutions and citizens. Rasila and Mudau (2013) also argue that it is this gap that makes citizens feel alienated from government initiatives and projects in general. This is the reason why citizens cannot feel part of the government and do not actively participate in governance issues and those that aim to improve their living conditions (Rasila & Mudau, 2013).

According to Karini (2008), citizen participation in decision-making is very important because citizen participation creates better policies. Karini (2008) argues that a decision that has been made collectively is very well thought out and leads to better outcomes. Karini (2008) also notes that public participation in decision making can be beneficial to both the state and citizens. Working together will reduce conflict and, most importantly, decentralization of power will benefit society through effective and quick decisions, which in turn will make the state more inclusive, democratic, and public policy will reflect the public interest. The participation of citizens in decision-making also contributes to greater transparency and accountability in policy making through access to information, consultation, direct public scrutiny (Karini, 2008).

Mellouli et al. (2014) examine the connection between citizen engagement and smart governance. The authors contend that the success of smart government programs, which seek to employ technology to enhance public services, depends on community participation. Citizens' active involvement in all phases of decision-making, from planning to implementation and evaluation, is defined by the authors as "citizen participation" (p. 2). According to Mellouli et al. (2014), there are various ways that citizens can participate in smart government, such as through co-creation, feedback, and data sharing.

The effectiveness of smart government efforts depends on community participation, according to Mellouli et al. (2014). According to the authors, citizen involvement may

ensure that smart government programs are sensitive to the wants and requirements of citizens. According to Mellouli et al. (2014), citizens are the ultimate consumers of public services, and their involvement may assist guarantee that services are effective, efficient, and appropriate (p. 2).

According to Cooper et al. (2006), a conceptual model of citizen-centered approaches to civic engagement and collaborative democracy can result in public policies that are more responsive and effective. The model they developed states that citizen-centered approaches entail "a systematic effort to solicit and incorporate citizen input into the formulation, implementation, and assessment of public policies and programs" (p. 80).

Cooper et al. (2006) contend that by taking into consideration the many viewpoints and experiences of citizens, citizen-centered approaches can enhance the quality of public policies. Input from citizens, according to them, "may improve the quality and relevance of public policies, ensuring that they address the most urgent needs and concerns of the community" (p. 80).

Moreover, Cooper et al. (2006) contend that citizen-centered strategies can contribute to the development of trust between the populace and the government. The government can demonstrate that it is attentive to the interests and concerns of the community by incorporating residents in the policy-making process. By doing so, the government and its constituents may be able to foster a culture of cooperation and foster a sense of shared responsibility for determining public policy.

Cooper et al. (2006) argue that citizen-centered approaches to civic engagement and collaborative government can lead to more effective and responsive public policies. Their conceptual model highlights the importance of citizen input in the policy-making process, as well as the potential benefits of citizen engagement for building trust and promoting collaboration between the government and its citizens. Cooper et al. (2006) provided a conceptual model of citizen-centered approaches to civic engagement and collaborative government. According to Cooper et al. (2006), in order to achieve effective collaborative government, six variables must be improved, which are government trust in citizens, citizen effectiveness, citizen trust in government, citizen competence, government responsiveness, and government legitimacy. To examine these variables, Cooper et al. (2006) described the approaches that are least and most likely to promote cooperative government. These are adversarial approaches, selective approaches,

legislative and administrative information exchange approaches, civil society approaches, and deliberative approaches. According to Cooper et al. (2006), these five civic engagement approaches offer many opportunities for meaningful citizen action and will be a catalyst in promoting citizen-centered, collaborative government.

#### 2.4. Best citizen communication practices

Karini (2008) noted the Czech Republic as one of the best practices of advanced citizen participation. According to Karini (2008), civil society in the Czech Republic plays an important role in influencing public policy and interacting on policy issues with the government. According to Karini (2008), two important areas of influence on the policies of civil society organizations in the Czech Republic are the environment and social services. This is defined by the Civil Society Index. The relationship between the state and the State Society Organization is very friendly and due to this the Organization is active and successfully influences the state policy (Karini, 2008).

The Czech Republic is also mentioned in the Good Practices Report on Participatory Citizenship in the European Union. According to the Good Practices Report (2012), the Czech Republic has established a website named "Our Politicians" (www.nasipolitici.cz), which gives thorough information about Czech politicians and political topics. The portal, which was established in 2008, allows voters to make responsible and well-informed judgments during elections (Good Practices Report, 2012). To assist prevent potential political corruption, citizens must have access to accurate and accessible information about politicians and electoral procedures in order to keep governments accountable. Furthermore, in order to participate in traditional politics, voters must have access to information about their possible political representatives and the bodies that will reflect their views in the national parliament (Good Practices Report, 2012).

The Good Practices Report of Participatory Citizenship in the European Union also notes the U.K.'s National Civic Service. This service is supported by the government and provided to outside organizations in the voluntary, charitable, and business sectors. The service aims to help young people develop the attitudes and skills they need to become active and responsible citizens (Good Practices Report, 2012). The National Civic Service promotes a rebalancing of the relationship between the state, society and individuals, through which citizens are trusted and encouraged to be socially responsible and to unite in their communities in order to reduce the scope of public administration. National Civic

Service seeks to create a more responsible, socially engaged, and cohesive society (Good Practices Report, 2012).

Karini (2008) also pointed to the U.K. as one of the best examples of best practices for citizen participation. Karini (2008) notes about a portal that the U.K. government has created for citizen-to-government and citizen-to-citizen interaction. This portal is called "Citizen Space". In such an online portal one can get advice, publicly discuss policy issues, offer useful information, and create a space for e-government. In many European countries, it is the Internet that is used as a means of connecting the public with the government and ensuring citizen participation in policymaking (Karini, 2008).

#### 2.5. Citizen participation challenges in recycling

In developing countries, waste management systems (MSW) have numerous issues. It is necessary to understand the challenges and barriers at the community level in order to develop effective strategies for strengthening MSW recycling. In a study by Babazadeh et al. (2018), which focuses on describing the obstacles and barriers that citizens in Tabriz, Iran face when participating in the Source Separation of Waste (SSW) program. The authors have identified four major categories of impediments to home trash separation: issues with the waste collection system, a lack of accountability among people, insufficient awareness among citizens, and the expectation of getting incentives (Babazadeh et al., 2018).

A variety of factors may influence residents' level of participation in the SSW. According to a meta-analysis of the drivers of recycling behaviors, "the strongest predictors of recycling behaviors among householders were convenience with the behaviors, moral norms, information, and environmental concern" (Rousta et al., 2017, p.8). Furthermore, a review states: "recycling behaviors and waste-sorting systems, convenience (enough access to sorting facilities, good service, etc.) as well as knowledge and information were regarded as the most important elements that encourage waste sorting in households" (Rousta et al., 2017, p.8).

#### 2.6. Post-Soviet legacy in recycling and MSW

A comparative study conducted by Skryhan et al. (2018) compared the status in the sector of municipal solid waste management in six post-soviet (including Kazakhstan) countries to that in EU member states (some of them have a socialist past) by using BiPRO

approach (BiPRO, 2012). The authors' tried to answer the following question: How much has waste management progressed in post-Soviet countries compared to EU members? The authors conclude that the municipal waste management in post-soviet countries is inefficient. The efficiency levels can be compared to EU countries of the third group – Latvia, Cyprus, Romania, Lithuania, Malta, Bulgaria and Greece. According to authors, the reason behind low levels of efficiency are as follows: 1) Insufficient legislation and regulation: lack of landfill ban, lack of biodegradable waste regulation, unstable forecasting and planning system, out-of-date tariff policy, and statistic accounting; 2) underdeveloped recycling and treatment capacity; 3) absence of efficient economic tools to encourage recycling and lower waste generation (Skryhan et al., 2018). The authors conclude: "The legal prohibition of disposing of municipal solid waste at landfills, the restoration of a separate waste collection system (disestablished after the collapse of the USSR), the establishment of economic and financial mechanisms supporting the waste processing sector, and public education campaigns encouraging people to produce less waste are need to improve waste management systems in post-soviet countries" (Skryhan et al., 2018, p.193).

#### 2.7. Current waste management legislative framework in Kazakhstan

There is a scarcity of peer-reviewed literature in English about Kazakhstan's municipal solid waste management regulations. Inglezakis et al. review and assess the current regulations made in Kazakhstan, to be more specific, the authors focus on the Program of Modernization of Municipal Solid Waste Management for the years 2014–2050. There are several documents that play an important role in the waste management in Kazakhstan. In general, the Environmental Code of the Republic of Kazakhstan and its amendments as of 2009, as well as a number of other orders and resolutions relevant to Sanitary Rules such as the Order of the Ministry of Health of the Republic of Kazakhstan No 555 (2010) on the approval of Sanitary Rules and the Resolution No 291 of the Government of the Republic of Kazakhstan (2012) on the approval of Sanitary Rules regulate waste management in Kazakhstan (Inglezakis et al., 2018).

The Ministry of Environment and Water Resources released the Municipal Solid Waste Management Modernization Program for the years 2014–2050. (2014). This program is based on two acts. First, act No 577 (2013) entitled "Concept of transition of Kazakhstan to a Green Economy," and act No 750 (2013). The latter is the action plan of the

Government of the Republic of Kazakhstan to implement this concept (Inglezakis et al., 2018). According to Inglezakis et al. the implementation of the Green Economy Program requires the prioritization of the Program of Modernization of Municipal Solid Waste Management for the years 2014–2050. The latter program focuses on ameliorating the efficiency, reliability, environmental and social acceptability of MSW collection, transportation, processing and disposal services (Inglezakis et al., 2018).

The modernization program of municipal solid waste management in the 2014–2050 years, Government Resolution Republic of Kazakhstan on June 9, 2014 No. 634. The Ministry of Environment and Water Resources (MEWR) includes three stages of implementation.

- Stage 1 presupposes the preparation of a regional management program of solid waste between the years 2014-2020.
- Next stage is planned to be carried out between 2021-2030, the whole focus of the second stage is on the actual implementation.
- Stage 3 (2031-2050) requires the completion of the program, and this stage further focuses on the evaluation of the sustainability of the modernization of municipal solid waste management in Kazakhstan.

Inglezakis et al. have summarized the main measures that are going to be taken in the framework of the modernization program of municipal solid waste management in the 2014–2050 years, Government Resolution Republic of Kazakhstan on June 9, 2014 No. 634. The Ministry of Environment and Water Resources (MEWR). Some of these are:

- Increase MSW recycling up to 40% by 2030 and 50% by 2050;
- Integrate environmentally friendly and sanitary landfills;
- Introduce a household waste separation program for consumers;
- Attraction of investments:
- Introduction of new technologies for MSW recycling (Inglezakis et al., 2018).

Another important issue that Inglezakis et al. state in their work is regarding the government's policy. According to them, it is consistent with the European Union

policies, however, there are considerable discrepancies in terms of timeline. The authors view the EU legislation as a good example. Also, the MEWR clearly states the goals of the Program of Modernization of MSW Management for the years 2014–2050. However, there is no mention of the recycling communication policy (Inglezakis et al., 2018). Despite the fact that targets set were clearly articulated in the document, not including a communication policy about recycling is a huge weakness.

### 2.8. The importance of media in the realization of communication policy in Kazakhstan

An important role in the realization of communication policy in Kazakhstan, and not only, is the power of the mass media. To date, one of the effective tools for the realization of political communication in the country is the domestic media. Nurtazina (2011) noted that the activities of the media occupies a special place in Kazakhstan as the main instrument of political communication, because in the political sphere of Kazakhstan information about the activities of political actors is carried out directly in society through the media. The media forms public opinion about the activities of political power in the political system. According to Nurtazina (2011), in Kazakhstan, the number of consumers of the media, which is a public structure, is growing, and mass communication in their distribution is widely developed. Nair et al. (2019) argues that the media in Kazakhstan is generally not trusted. The author added that the government provides financial support to certain print media outlets because they lack circulation and advertising support, and the Independent Media face criminal investigations. Nair et al. (2019) also mentioned that in Kazakhstan, the lack of trust in the mainstream media has led to an increase in the popularity of blogs and critical comments on social networks about the state's activities. Medeuov et al. (2017) argues that in media management, especially with the ubiquity of social media, the government inevitably realizes that the essence of interaction is as important as the style and perception of interaction. Despite the large number of scientific works on political communication and related issues, there are very few special studies in domestic political science that comprehensively examine political communication, which plays a special role in strengthening the policy of Kazakhstan.

Before moving to the last section of this chapter, below you can see the summary of the literature review done by the research team. The authors are categorized based on the topics explored in this literature review.

Table 1. Summary of the literature review.

#	Factor	References
1	Government Use of Communication as a Policy Tool	Howlett, 2020
2	Recycling communication tools	Kok & Siero, 1985; McGuire, 1973; Taylor, 1988; Thomas, 2001; De Young, 1986; Clarke and Maantay, 2006; Reams & Ray, 1994; Evison & Read, 2001
3	Citizen participation and engagement	Rasila and Mudau, 2013; Karini, 2008; Mellouli et al., 2016; Cooper et al., 2006
4	Best citizen communication practices	Karini, 2008; Good Practices Repo
5	Citizen participation challenges in recycling	Babazadeh et al., 2018, Rousta et a 2017; Miafodzyeva & Brandt, 2012
6	Post-Soviet legacy in recycling and MSW	Skryhan et al., 2018
7	Current waste management legislative framework in Kazakhstan	Inglezakis et al., 2018
8	The importance of media in the realization of communication policy in Kazakhstan	Nurtazina, 2011; Nair et al., 2019; Medeuov et al., 2017

#### 2.9. Conceptual framework

We would like to take this one step further, and consider the communication tools implemented in the city of Astana through the framework of Lee & Krieger's work named "Moving from Directives toward Audience Empowerment: A Typology of Recycling Communication Strategies of Local Governments". In their study, Lee and Kreiger (2020) categorize qualitatively distinct recycling communication types. Since the main focus of this study is to identify the recycling communication carried out by the local government administration in Astana, we will categorize the recycling communication types based on their work.

It is crucial that clear and comprehensible recycling communication strategies are key in improving the MSW recycling management. According to Lee and Kreiger's findings there are six qualitatively distinct recycling communication types. These types are: singlechannel deficit-reduction, multi-channel deficit-reduction, audience-centric deficitreduction, single-channel translation, multi-channel translation, and audience-centric translation (Lee & Kreiger 2020). Note that each of the above mentioned communication strategies serves a different purpose. Single-channel deficit reduction "includes specific waste disposal guidelines on local newspaper advertisements and/or a website" (Lee & Kreiger 2020, p. 6). This approach is usually used when there's a shortage of human and financial sources. Multi-channel deficit reduction "refers to using various marketing strategies, media channels, and persuasive message design techniques to maximize information exposure" (Lee & Kreiger 2020, p. 7). Examples include recycling messages that are distributed via broadcast, print, digital, and social media with the use of visual elements and seasonal campaigns to capture audience attention. Audience-centric deficit reduction "implies diving the audience into preferences and characteristics. For instance, bilingual advertising" (Lee & Kreiger 2020, p. 7). It is important to note that this approach is extremely relevant to Kazakhstan. Single channel translational approach refers to "interpersonal communication, where information on recycling is given and explained during face-to-face interactions and phone calls" (Lee & Kreiger 2020, p. 8). Multichannel translational approach includes events, recycling tours, presenting at local schools, and attending community organization meetings to increase program visibility, or to educate residents about sustainability and the waste management process. Also, the use of social media, radio, mobile apps is a common practice. Audience centric translational approach refers to "active involvement of the audience of the recycling program. For example, acknowledging the decision making role of the public in the recycling process, thanking them for their involvement through local newspapers" (Lee, Kreiger 2020, p. 8). Findings from this research and the typology can serve as a compass for the identification of recycling communication styles in Kazakhstan.

Table 2. Conceptual model (Lee & Kreiger, 2020).

COMMUNICATION TYPES	COMMUNICATION INSTRUMENTS
Single channel deficit reduction approach	Waste disposal guidelines via newspaper advertisements.
Multichannel deficit reduction approach	Simultaneously broadcast, print, digital, and social media.
Audience-centric deficit reduction approach	Simplifying messages, bilingual advertising.
Single channel translational approach	Face-to-face interactions and phone calls.
Multichannel translational approach	Recycling tours, local schools.
Audience-centric translational approach	Active involvement of the audience in the recycling program via newspapers.

#### **CHAPTER 3 - METHODOLOGY**

#### **3.1. Data**

The intent of this study is to understand how recycling communication practices are carried out by Akimat, and how these practices contribute to raising awareness among citizens. The research strategy is a case study because the focus of the research is a particular case of recycling communication practices implemented in Astana. We used this location because of its relative ease of access, as well as its unique characteristic as a growing center that attracts citizens from all over Kazakhstan. For a more in-depth study, we took all 4 districts of the city of Astana.In order to understand how recycling communication practices are carried out in Astana (RQ1), we focus on the source of these practices i.e the Akimat to learn what kind of communication tools they use and their main contractors i.e. the Clean City NC (RQ2), and measure how these practices work to increase citizens awareness (RQ3).

In order to find the answer to the general question and research questions one and two, the study used interviews. To understand the implementation of communication practices on waste recycling and recycling communication tools we interviewed two Akimat officials from the Akimat of Saryarka district of Astana city. Semi-structured interviews with the Akimat officials were selected non-randomly based on their position and knowledge about waste management in the organization. We selected to interview Akimat officials because they are in charge of enforcing communication policies. As a result, they are a useful source of data for answering our study questions. Also, together with Clean City NC, Akimat is the main provider of communication tools for waste recycling. To conduct interviews with Akimat officials, we contacted the main office of the Akimat and arranged interviews. Our interviewees are heads of the departments, which deal with the problems of recycling in the city of Astana. We also interviewed one representative of the Clean City NC company, which is the main contractor of the Akimat of Astana. This company was chosen because of its tight partnership with Astana's Akimat in the recycling process. The Clean City NC company collects trash across the city, labels trash cans with stickers, and conducts other programs to teach people about recycling. Given their recycling knowledge, one of their experts was interviewed to answer our questions.

To understand the effectiveness of the existing communication strategy, we also interviewed 5 eco-activists who are the experts on recycling. We used social networks such as Instagram and Telegram to find participants in the research among eco-activists. To guarantee that our study included individuals with relevant knowledge and expertise in the recycling program, we used a purposive sampling strategy to identify eco-activists. We hoped to acquire representatives from those categories of people who are most likely to contribute significant insights into the topic by selecting participants in this manner.

To find an answer to the third research question, we used interviews and surveys to understand how existing communication practices affect people's awareness. We conducted a survey among 54 residents from all four Astana districts. For the interviews with citizens, we used random sampling through social media. The respondents were between the ages of 18 to 70 and residing in one of the four districts of the city of Astana, such as Baikonur, Almaty, Saryraka and Esil districts. We chose all four districts because we wanted to get complete and extensive information. The districts of the city of Astana are very different from each other, for example the largest area is Esil district. This area is considered the most affluent, because it is located on the Left Bank of the city and covers some of the most expensive residential buildings. On the other hand, there is Baikonur district, which is considered one of the less well-off because it is located on the Right Rank of the city and part of the district covers the most dangerous and criminal streets of Astana. Saryarka and Almaty districts cover both the Right Bank and the Left Bank, to the south and to the north of the city of Astana.

Interviews with citizens of Astana, Akimat officials and eco-activists took place between December 2022 and February 2023. The data for the study is collected at one point in time, therefore, the time horizon is cross-sectional. In order to find city residents who want to participate in the study, we used social networks such as Instagram and Telegram.

#### 3.2. Methods

The research team used both qualitative and quantitative methods for this PAE. In general, semi-structured interviews were conducted with different stakeholders i.e. the Akimat officials and their contractors, the citizens and eco-activists. In addition to that a survey was conducted among citizens of Astana from the four districts. First of all, let us define the reasoning behind qualitative and quantitative methods for this study. In order to answer research question one and two, which is related to the implementation of recycling

communication practices and the tools used in Astana, we contacted the Akimat officials from the Saryarka district and a representative from Clean City NC. The semi-structured interviews included around seven priorly determined questions. These were focused on understanding whether there is a separate recycling communication policy implemented or not. Moreover, the research team was interested in the cooperation between the Saryarka Akimat and Clean City NC, that is, the team asked questions to the respondents to answer the question "Who does what?". Next round of questions were aimed towards understanding the specific recycling communication tools used by the Saryarka Akimat and Clean City NC. It is important to mention that, during the interviews, the research team also asked follow up questions and asked the respondents opinion on possible improvements and what issues stand in the way of a successful recycling in the city of Astana.

Secondly, in order to answer research question number three, which is aimed towards understanding the influence of existing recycling communication practices on people's awareness, we conducted a survey among citizens of Astana. The survey was done on a software application called Qualtrics and spread through social media such as Instagram and Telegram. There were twenty one questions in the survey in total. The first seven questions are targeted towards getting demographic information such as age, location (district), household size etc. from the respondents. The second part of survey questions focuses on understanding whether the respondents are aware of the program, and if so, how did they learn about it. Based on the literature review, we understand that measuring awareness and comprehension of the communication policies is crucial. As a result, respondents were asked if they were aware of their municipality's recycling program (awareness), how they became aware of it (source of information), and with which potential source of information they had been in contact. They were also questioned if they understood the objective of recycling (comprehension). Last two questions of the survey are a multiple-choice question, based on the sticker on a color-coded trash bin that is used by the Akimat of Astana and Clean City NC. The respondents were supposed to choose which type of waste goes to which bin.

In order to answer the general question about the effectiveness of the existing recycling communication, interviews with citizens and eco-activists were conducted in addition to the survey. The semi-structured interviews with citizens were conducted to get a deeper

understanding of citizens' comprehension of Akimat's current recycling guidelines. While the eco-activists were interviewed in order to help us understand the existing tools and assess their effectiveness.

#### 3.3. Analysis

This study used thematic analysis as a method to identify, analyze, and report themes that emerge from the interviews. Thematic analysis was used to identify and explore themes related to the implementation, effectiveness, and impact of the recycling communication policies in the city of Astana. Descriptive statistics was used to analyze the survey.

With the interviews and thematic analysis, this study focuses on an inductive analysis, which primarily "has a descriptive and exploratory orientation" (p.7, Guest et al., 2012). The data was analyzed by carefully reading the transcribed interviews. After this, the team looked for "keywords, trends, themes, or ideas in the data that will help outline the analysis" (p. 7, Guest et al., 2012). The team used the software application called NVivo for thematic analysis. At first, we used the autocoding option provided on NVivo, but after seeing that it focuses on the frequency of words, we manually coded all the interviews by using the same application. It is important to note that the research team was not simply interested in the frequency of themes, but rather we were more interested in the important topics and the overlap of them between different stakeholders.

Regarding the survey, the analysis was done by using the software application called Qualtrics. Qualtrics provided an automatically generated report with the answers of our respondents. It also included several graphs to show frequency of some answers. This was especially useful when we looked into demographics. Moreover, Qualtrics also provided us with descriptive statistics on the answers.

#### 3.4. Ethical considerations

In qualitative research, interviews are a typical approach of gathering data, and as with any research method, it is crucial to think about the ethical ramifications of interviewing study subjects. Participants in the interviews must first provide their consent after being fully informed. This entails informing volunteers about the study's goals, methods, possible drawbacks and rewards, and any financial compensation that will be offered. In the case of our PAE, before giving their agreement to participate in the study, participants were fully informed about the objectives of our research. Our team also told the

participants that their participation in the study is entirely voluntary and that they have the right to revoke consent at any moment.

The research team also made it clear that confidentiality and anonymity are our top priority. We guaranteed confidentiality of the data supplied by participants and the protection of participants' identities. The research team understands the prospective effects of the study on the participants. This was especially true for the interviews with Akimat officials. We noticed that they were extra careful with their answers and occasionally checked their words with the documents. Therefore, to make them feel comfortable, we followed the respondents' flow of answers. We understand that the interview procedure may have an emotional or psychological influence on participants, and our team was aware of this possibility and took precautions to limit any potential harm. We offered assistance or directed participants to options that helped them deal with any unfavorable outcomes of participation.

#### **CHAPTER 4 - FINDINGS AND DATA ANALYSIS**

To analyze the collected data, thematic analysis and descriptive statistics were used. The themes that occurred in the interviews were manually coded using NVivo as the research team was not interested in the frequency, but rather we were curious about relevant themes and the overlap of themes between different stakeholders. Thematic analysis will be used to identify and explore themes related to the implementation, effectiveness, and impact of the recycling communication policies in the city of Astana. The survey was necessary to measure citizens' awareness of the existing recycling guidelines. The results were analyzed by descriptive statistics with the help of Qualtrics software.

In order to answer question number one, which is "How is the communication policy in recycling implemented in Astana?", we used thematic analysis on the basis of interviews with two Akimat officials from Saryarka district and a Clean City NC representative. The interviews showed that the recycling communication in Astana is carried out by the Akimat and their main contractors i.e. the Clean City NC. One of the most pressing questions for our research team was to learn more about the existing recycling communication strategies. During the course of a meeting with Akimat officials, it was noted that Astana has a centralized system of municipal waste collection:

"The city of Astana has a centralized system for collecting municipal waste from the population, which includes the collection, transportation, sorting, processing and disposal of waste", said Akimat officials. However, as the research team asked follow-up questions during the interview, it was revealed that there is no separate recycling communication strategy. It is important to note that although there is no separate recycling communication policy, there are certain recycling communication practices that are being carried out by both the Akimat and the Clean City. The Akimat officials showed the documents signed between the Akimat and the contractors for the provision of some recycling communication services. As it was already mentioned in the literature review, social media is a powerful tool and it can be used to share guidelines on positive environmental behavior. The existing recycling communication practices are covered in the second research question.

To explore the instruments used for recycling communication in Astana, the interview questions were designed to delve deeper into the specific tools employed by both Akimat

and the Clean City. Based on the answers provided by Akimat officials during the interview, the recycling communication tools used are as follows:

- Social media: The Akimat uses instagram, which has a following of 1039 people, mainly for reporting purposes. The publications on the instagram page show what the Akimat has done in terms of environmental issues. That is, they do not provide any recycling guidelines on topics such as sorting and the importance of recycling.
- Stickers on color-coded bins: The stickers offer instructions on which bin to use for different types of waste.
- iKomek 109: The Akimat officials also noted that they use iKomek 109, a unified contact center of the Akimat of the city of Astana. Citizens use this platform to send their complaints. However, it is important to note that no information regarding recycling is distributed through the platform. The Akimat officials respond to citizens' complaints.

In addition to that, the interview with the Clean City officials gave an insight into their tools used for recycling communication purposes:

- Social media: Similar to Akimat, Clean City also has an Instagram page. Clean City's following is slightly higher, which is around 2466 followers. The publications have a more informative and educational tone, providing tips and advice on how to recycle and keep the city more sustainable. In addition to that, Clean City's Instagram page features more visuals, such as photos and videos of community clean-up events, public awareness campaigns, and environmental initiatives.
- Stickers on color-coded bins: The stickers offer instructions on which bin to use for different types of waste.
- Irregular offline events: Clean City takes part in offline events such as *subbotnik* (cleaning day), *darmarka* (event for exchange of clothes and other items), visits to schools.

To understand how recycling communication practices influence people's awareness, we decided to show the findings on the example of one of Akimat's recycling tools. These are color-coded bins. 87.80% of respondents answered that they knew about the color-coded trash sorting bins. 60.98% responded that they have the color-coded bins near their homes. The results were less spectacular, though, when it came to the exact trash categories that should be disposed of in each bin. This survey had multiple-choice questions, where citizens had to choose which type of waste goes into which bin. For example, paper, glass, plastic, metal, small appliances and electronics should go in the yellow container. For our

example, we decided to take the statistics for plastic, which should be in the yellow bin. From 92 responses to the multiple choice question, only 28 (or 30.4%) responses for plastic were correct. Similar to this, food trash, fabrics, leather, wood waste, ceramic utensils, and hygiene products are to be disposed of in the gray and/or green bins. And only 22 out of 91 responses (or 24.2%) correctly recognized food waste as a substance that ought to be dumped in gray and/or green bins.

These findings imply that even while a large percentage of respondents are aware of the color-coded system used for waste sorting, they might not be entirely aware of the exact materials that should be disposed of in each bin. Lack of awareness may lead to items being disposed of improperly, which could reduce the efficacy of the recycling program

To answer the general research question about the effectiveness of the existing recycling communication strategy in Akimat of Astana, the research team used the results of both survey and the interviews. The current recycling communication strategy in Astana City Akimat is ineffective. Only 17.07% of those polled said they recycle waste, while 82.93% said they don't. This demonstrates a lack of citizen awareness or willingness to recycle rubbish. Furthermore, only 19.51% of respondents said they were aware of Astana City Akimat's recycling initiative. This implies that the program's communication strategy is ineffective. In terms of waste sorting, just 24.39% of respondents verified having participated, while 75.61% reacted negatively. However, 68.29% of those polled reported an interest in taking part, indicating a possible readiness to participate in waste sorting if adequately informed and motivated. In terms of where people acquire their recycling information, 70.73% of respondents said they get it from social media or the internet, while only 2.44% get it through TV or radio. This implies that the current communication approach may require a shift toward internet promotion. 53.66% of respondents assessed Astana City Akimat's efforts in informing citizens about recycling as inadequate (rating 1), indicating that the existing communication strategy needs to be improved. In conclusion, the data suggests that the current recycling communication strategy in Astana City Akimat is ineffective.

As mentioned before, in order to answer the general research question, we also conducted interviews with citizens and eco-activists. Some of the themes that emerged during the interview are:

- Ineffectiveness and insufficiency in information campaigns;
- Trust issues:
- Lack of recycling education in the curriculums.

The topics mentioned above will be considered thoroughly by using the findings from the survey among the citizens and the collected interviews.

1) Ineffectiveness and insufficiency of information campaigns

The theme of inconsistent and insufficient information campaigns were mainly brought up by citizens and the eco-activists. The eco-activists mentioned that one of the tools that the government is using for recycling communication is the posters on recycling bins. However, the eco-activists are questioning the effectiveness of this method:

"... Don't even doubt it, there is no need to check whether the waste is misplaced. Because it is. The process of recycling starts at home. That is, at the stage when mom, dad or child put trash in the trash can at home. They should already be thinking about how to sort it all (the waste). When posters on recycling bins are used, you need to be really sure that people will throw exactly where they need to. Otherwise, it's just throwing dust in the eyes, unfortunately", said respondent #1 (ECO-ineffective).

Another eco-activist shared the results of an experiment she conducted at the backyard of 100 panel houses. She taped informational posters on recycling bins herself within the framework of a project:

"Unfortunately, they (the posters) did not affect the situation in any way, the sorting process is done at home, that is, by the time people reach these recycling bins they already have everything (the waste) mixed up", explained respondent #5 (ECO-ineffective).

Regarding the insufficiency of the information campaigns, the majority of the ecoactivists (4/5) mentioned that more could be done to raise awareness among the citizens. Some of the instruments they recommended include the following:

• Information posters at supermarkets, entrance of the buildings, public transport and other type of public places;

- Information campaigns spread through the chats of residential buildings and KSK (personal approach);
- Preparing a unified information campaign that provides clear guidelines to people;
- Providing information through TV, social media;
- Teaching about recycling at kindergarten, schools and universities;
- Introduce more offline events like picnics and *subbotnik* (*cleaning event*) to raise awareness.

#### 2) Trust issues

The topic of trust issues was mainly raised by citizens. Citizens noted that one of the reasons for not recycling is lack of trust. Some citizens noted that they are not motivated to recycle because they see all the garbage taken away together by one machine. Respondent #9 (CIT-trust), a city resident, noted in an interview that, "Why should I sort my trash and put it in different bins if I see all the trash from all the bins taken away by one car in the morning. Given that, all the effort and time spent on sorting is a waste of time".

Another resident specifically made her own observation and also noted mistrust as the most important reason why she does not participate in recycling. Respondent #10 noted: "I woke up in the morning specifically to watch the garbage truck pick up trash from the bins. The garbage truck came and just put all the trash together. It didn't matter if it was a yellow bin or a green bin, it was all collected in one car. After that there is no motivation to sort the garbage at all".

When conducting an interview with officials of the Akimat, this question was raised by the researcher team. The Akimat answered that according to the rules, the garbage truck must be different for different types of garbage. The Saryarka Akimat works closely with Clean City for the transportation and recycling of the waste. The Akimat officials showed several documents that prove transportation contracts with CleanCity. One of the Akimat officials commented on the trust issues of the citizens by mentioning two platforms Sergek and iKomek:

"The citizens should not be worried about the trash transportation. The garbage trucks are colored and have their schedule. For that we have Sergek cameras and a special tracking system that tracks the movement of garbage trucks on the map, controls the timeliness of arrival and the waste removal. If a citizen spots that a garbage truck takes the wrong bin, they should file a complaint through Ikomek. The complaint will be processed and the guilty party will be punished".

## 3) Lack of recycling education in the curriculums.

This theme is an important one due to the reason that it was mentioned by all three groups that were interviewed i.e. the citizens, eco-activists and the government officials. All three groups believe that recycling habits should be taught at educational institutions. This section starts with the results of the survey from the citizens and then switches to eco-activists.

All of the eco-activists mentioned that recycling behavior should be taught at educational institutions. The age at which it should be taught varied among the respondents. Some activists think it should start from kindergarten, some believe it should start at school. One of the eco-activists had a voluntary project, where she and her team prepared a teaching plan both for students and the teachers from Kazakh schools to teach about recycling. They focused on Kazakh schools because there is a lack of information in Kazakh language on the topic of recycling. Respondent #3 shared why they chose to work with schools:

"If you want to change something, you need to start with children. So we went to schools. That is, you go to school, you get the teachers, and teach the teachers. Then, they teach the child, the child goes to the family, and already through the child there is an impact on the family. That is, this is not a one time effect. It creates a cascade effect".

The eco-activist also mentioned that the knowledge level of recycling is low among both the teachers and students at schools. She also noted that it was hard to arrange this program at schools as it depended on how the school administration reacted to this project. According to the eco-activist, ecology lessons with practical knowledge on recycling and other issues should be a part of the curriculum. In addition to that, the Akimat officials noted that: "People in our country do not have a recycling culture. It should be taught at schools. The Ministry of Education should prepare a program".

Overall, these results indicate that more funding for public education is required to boost recycling in Astana. The creation of more accessible recycling facilities and focused public education programs may help to remove obstacles to recycling and motivate more locals to take part in waste reduction initiatives.

# **CHAPTER 5 - DISCUSSION**

As communities and policymakers seek to address the growing problem of waste and its impact on the environment, effective communication strategies are essential for promoting recycling. The government in Kazakhstan is making attempts to address its growing challenges in waste management. Therefore, there is a need to better understand the existing communication practices and identify how communication can be leveraged to encourage positive changes in waste management behavior. In this chapter, we will discuss the implications of our study on recycling communication in Kazakhstan, drawing on the findings presented in the previous chapter. This will be done on the basis of the theoretical framework of Lee & Krieger's work "Moving from Directives toward Audience Empowerment: A Typology of Recycling Communication Strategies of Local Governments" (2020).

As mentioned in the conceptual framework, Lee and Krieger provided six qualitatively distinct communication types based on the recycling communication campaigns that are implemented at the municipal level in the US. By relying on these communication strategies, our team identified the communication practices that are being currently used in the city of Astana. The findings suggest that currently only two types of communication strategies are being used in Astana. These are single channel deficit reduction and multichannel translational approaches. The next paragraph explains why some of these communication types were considered relevant to the case of Astana municipality, while others were not.

## 1. Single Channel Deficit Reduction Approach.

The authors note that this approach is a method of promoting recycling information that involves using a single communication outlet. Waste disposal guidelines are conveyed to the public with the use of tools such as websites, newspaper advertisements and instructions at drop-off facilities. Although the Akimat of Astana uses several channels for communication, the guidelines are provided through the stickers on color-coded bins.

In addition to that, Lee and Krieger (2020) highlighted that the single channel deficit reduction approach is usually used when there are limited resources for educational campaigns or recycling programs. This indicates that the recycling issues might not be a top priority as there is not much budget allocated for this.

#### 2. Multichannel Deficit Reduction Approach

This communication strategy uses various marketing tools to increase the citizens' information exposure. The authors suggest that main communications instruments are broadcast, print, digital, and social media. The Akimat of Astana and their contractors, Clean City, do not use this communication approach because the messages regarding recycling are not distributed simultaneously, and this is one of the most important aspects of multi-channel deficit reduction approach.

# 3. Audience-Centric Deficit Reduction Approach

In this case, the audience is divided into different groups according to their preferences and characteristics. This is done to create and spread messages that are easy to understand, remember, and motivate people to take action. The findings from the interview show that there is no segmenting and targeting based on audience i.e. the public. In fact, many of the stickers on color-coded bins use Russian language for guidelines, when they should be bilingual.

# 4. The Single Channel Translational Approach

This recycling communication strategy aims to educate residents on recycling through personal communication methods like face-to-face interactions or phone calls. The face-to-face interactions are usually done on recycling sites, which is not available in Astana as the recycling sites are located outside the city. Although it is important to note that visits to recycling sites are not forbidden, they are not promoted as well.

## 5. Multichannel Translational Approach

This strategy includes events like community outreach and recycling tours, presentations at schools and community meetings, and increasing program visibility to promote sustainability and recycling. This communication strategy is partially carried out in Astana, especially by the contractors, Clean City, as they host offline events at schools, *subbotnik* (cleaning day), *darmarka* (event for exchange of clothes and other items) where they teach about sorting and recycling. However, these practices are not carried out regularly.

# 6. Audience-Centric Translational Approach

The authors suggest that this communication strategy focuses on audience empowerment through active involvement of the audience in the recycling program. We believe that this communication strategy has a big potential for Astana, especially considering the results of our findings, where distrust levels from citizens remain high. Neither the Akimat of Astana nor the Clean City are sharing the citizens' experience of recycling through various channels like social media, broadcasting, newspapers.

The existing recycling communication practices show that there is a lack of sufficient interaction with the citizens. As it was shown in the literature, communication policies in Kazakhstan, for the most part, have been based on a top-down approach, with the government often dispersing information, more than discussing with the public (OECD, 2017). These policy formulation and administrative methods are reminiscent of Soviet practices in governance (OECD, 2017). However, it is important to mention that, Tokayev, in his speech, talked about how the government will be shifting to become a "Listening State", which aims to take into consideration citizens and their opinions (Tokayev, 2019). The current government, thus, voiced that it's willing to reinforce and nourish the role of civic society, and to include them in discussions during the policy formulation stages, however, this is not visible in the recycling communication strategies currently. Despite this rhetoric, there is still a lack of citizen-centered communication strategies for the recycling system. Achieving the goal of becoming a "Listening State" will require strong political will to enact the necessary reforms, particularly in communication policies. At present, it appears that there is still a lack of political will to implement these changes.

# **CHAPTER 6 - CONCLUSION**

# **6.1.** Research summary

The study concluded that the existing communication strategy of the Astana City Akimat in the field of waste recycling is ineffective. According to the survey, the majority of respondents from all four districts of the city of Astana, are not educated enough about the recycling and waste sorting procedures. Also, according to the interview, we came to the conclusion of a trust issue. Since residents mentioned distrust of waste collection, explaining it by the fact that many people saw sorted waste is taken away by one car. And also according to the interview with a representative of the Akimat, we can conclude the lack of information campaigns on recycling among residents of Astana. Thematic analysis of interviews was conducted using NVIVO, and the survey results were interpreted using descriptive statistics.

# **6.2. Practical implications**

Based on the data we collected, we conclude that there are 4 important results that we want to highlight in our research.

1. No single defined communication policy on recycling in Astana.

Neither of the interviewed Akimat officials nor the Clean City NC representatives were able to give a definite answer about the existence of a specific communication policy on waste recycling. This is confirmed by the words of eco-activists, who also said that the Akimat has no communication policy on recycling in Astana. The majority of respondents in our survey responded that they are not aware of the existence of a specific communication policy on waste recycling in the Akimat of Astana city.

### 2. Lack of effective communication tools in Astana.

The interview with Akimat officials made it clear to us that the Akimat has very few recycling communication tools. And moreover, most of it is used by the Clean City NC company through Akimat. Both Akimat and Clean city NC use social networks, such as Instagram. Both use stickers on the bins. Akimat also uses IKomek 109 application. and Clean City NC, in turn, additionally conducts offline events. This shows the use of only two types of communication strategies. These are single-channel deficit reduction and

multichannel translational approaches. And according to the survey, these communication recycling tools are ineffective and insufficient. Akimat works only on reporting and does not conduct any surveys and does not receive any feedback from residents. The tools used by the Akimat work only in one direction, and no one gets feedback on the effectiveness of the tools from the residents.

3. The Astana Akimat's recycling communication methods have a limited impact on citizens' levels of awareness.

The survey about color-coded bins clearly showed the awareness of the residents of Astana. Awareness of residents is small and many even having the necessary recycling tools near the houses, do not know enough about how to use it and sort waste.

4. Astana's current recycling communication strategy is deemed ineffective in terms of information campaigns, citizen trust and recycling education.

The study comes to the conclusion that the existing communication strategy of the Astana City Akimat in the field of waste recycling is ineffective. According to the survey, the majority of respondents from all four districts of the city of Astana, are not educated enough about the recycling and waste sorting procedures. Also, according to the interview, we came to the conclusion of a trust issue. Most of the respondents mentioned a lack of trust in waste collection, explaining it by the fact that many of them saw the sorted waste being taken away by one car. And also according to the interview with a representative of the Akimat, we can conclude the lack of information campaigns on recycling among residents of Astana.

# **6.3.** Limitations of the study

There are two limitations to the study that should be considered. First, the sample size is limited, with only 54 respondents taking part in the survey. This may restrict the data' generalizability to the larger Astana population. Second, we had restricted access to participants because only one Akimat out of four districts volunteered to answer our questions. The Akimat of Saryarka district was the only one who responded to our request and answered our questions. Akimats from the districts of Baikonur, Almaty, and Esil did not answer and did not participate in the research. This could have impacted the sample's representativeness and the accuracy of the conclusions. As a result, study needed additional research with a larger and more representative sample.

# **6.4.** Policy recommendations

The research's findings support a number of recommendations that could boost the effectiveness of Astana's Akimat's recycling communication strategy.

1. Develop a clear recycling communication policy.

Taking into account the results of the survey and interviews, we can conclude that in order to enhance the level of waste recycling in Astana, a clear waste recycling communication policy is required. Priority should be given to online communication channels in the newly created policy in order to reach the majority of residents who acquire recycling information from social networks and the internet. The Akimat should also increase efforts to promote the recycling program and make participation easier for homeowners by offering additional recycling containers and convenient waste sorting sites in residential areas. Residents will be more likely to assist in waste sorting if there is a clear and consistent communication strategy in place. Overall, a well-designed recycling communication policy will help to make the city cleaner and more sustainable.

2. Increase the visibility of the program and regularly promote it through various channels.

The majority of survey participants said they learned about recycling from social media and the internet. In order to reach a larger audience, the Akimat of Astana ought to take advantage of this trend by stepping up their social media presence. Eco-activists also recommended using tools at hand such as direct contact prompting. This can be done by corporating block leaders and volunteers in informing processes. Block leaders and volunteers can inform the residents of the houses about the importance of recycling in addition to guiding them in the waste sorting process. Despite the fact that 87.80% of respondents said they were aware of the color-coded system for waste bins, many individuals still aren't aware of which types of waste belong in which bins. By public campaigns, workshops, and training sessions, the Akimat of Astana might spread more information about waste sorting.

3. Increase intrinsic motivation mechanisms by adding recycling to curriculums.

Both eco-activists and Akimat officials highlighted the importance of working with the younger generation, and thus introducing a course on environmental issues that touches

upon the recycling process. Literature review shows that positive recycling behavior also depends on training intrinsic motivation mechanisms meaning, addressing ethical and moral sides of environmentally positive behavior. A group of eco-activists have already prepared education materials both for teachers and students on the above mentioned topics and introduced these in Kazakhs schools in Astana. Therefore, educational material on recycling and environmental issues is already available. It is essential for the Ministry of Education and Science of the Republic of Kazakhstan to work on introducing this into kindergarten, school and university curriculums.

# 4. Incorporate citizen participation and feedback to the recycling program.

Our research implies that the Akimat is introducing policies without getting feedback from one of the main stakeholders i.e. the citizens. In addition to that, our interview with Akimat officials suggests their attitude towards low citizen participation rates is rooted in the "lack of recycling culture" position. Whereas our literature review suggests that informing, education, publicity are important elements of any recycling program. Therefore, we recommend Akimat to conduct quarterly surveys on citizens to understand the availability of information and effectiveness of the introduced communication policies. As well as that, our research shows that eco-activists have done substantial work in the field, and using their expertise in policy making can make a difference in promoting environmentally positive behavior. Collaborating both with citizens and eco-activists aligns with Tokayev's 'listening state' approach to policy making.

## 5. Work on the communication gap between institutions.

In addition to recommending a more collaborative government, it is important to reduce the communication gap between institutions. Based on the recommendations made above, it is clear that the Ministry of Education and Science of the Republic of Kazakhstan, The Ministry of Ecology and Natural Resources of the Republic of Kazakhstan and Akimat and CleanCity shall work more closely to improve accessibility of knowledge on recycling and awareness of the issue and boost publicity of the program.

# REFERENCES

- Abylkhani, B., Guney, M., Aiymbetov, B., Yagofarova, A., Sarbassov, Y., Zorpas, A. A., Venetis, C., & Inglezakis, V. (2020). Detailed municipal solid waste composition analysis for Nur-Sultan City, Kazakhstan with implications for sustainable waste management in Central Asia.

  Environmental Science and Pollution Research, 28(19), 24406–24418. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-020-08431-x
- Clarke, M. J., & Maantay, J. A. (2006). Optimizing recycling in all of New York City's neighborhoods: Using GIS to develop the REAP index for improved recycling education, awareness, and participation. *Resources*, *conservation and recycling*, 46(2), 128-148.
- Concept on the Entry of Kazakhstan into the Number of 30 Most Developed

  Countries in the

  World.(2014).https://adilet.zan.kz/rus/docs/U1400000732
- Cooper, T. L., Bryer, T. A., & Meek, J. W. (2006). Citizen-Centered Collaborative Public Management. *Public Administration Review*, 66(s1), 76–88. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-6210.2006.00668.x">https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-6210.2006.00668.x</a>
- Derksen, L., & Gartrell, J. (1993). The Social Context of Recycling. *American Sociological Review*, 58(3), 434. https://doi.org/10.2307/2095910
- De Young, R. (1985). Encouraging environmentally appropriate behavior: The role of intrinsic motivation.
- Environmental Code of the Republic of Kazakhstan. 2019. <a href="https://adilet.zan.kz/rus/docs/K2100000400#z4472">https://adilet.zan.kz/rus/docs/K2100000400#z4472</a>
- European Commission, Europe for Citizens Programme. (2012). Good Practices Report: Participatory Citizenship in the European Union. In <a href="https://ec.europa.eu/citizenship/pdf/report\_3\_good\_practice.pdf">https://ec.europa.eu/citizenship/pdf/report\_3\_good\_practice.pdf</a>.
- Evison, T., & Read, A. D. (2001). Local Authority recycling and waste—awareness publicity/promotion. *Resources, Conservation and recycling*, 32(3-4), 275-291.

- Festinger, L. (1962). A Theory of Cognitive Dissonance. Stanford University Press.
- Howlett, M., & Rayner, J. (2013). Patching vs packaging in policy formulation: Assessing policy portfolio design. *Politics and Governance*, 1(2), 170-182.
- Howlett, M., Ramesh, M. Perl, A. (2009). *Studying Public Policy: Policy Cycles and Policy Subsystems*. Toronto: Oxford University Press.
- Information on the Reduction, Recycling and Reuse of waste. Electronic Government of the Republic of Kazakhstan. (2021). egov.kz.

  <a href="https://egov.kz/cms/ru/articles/ecology/waste\_reduction\_recycling\_and\_reuse">https://egov.kz/cms/ru/articles/ecology/waste\_reduction\_recycling\_and\_reuse</a>

  euse
- Inglezakis, V. J., Moustakas, K., Khamitova, G., Tokmurzin, D., Sarbassov, Y., Rakhmatulina, R., Serik, B., Abikak, Y., & Poulopoulos, S. G. (2018, February 14). Current municipal solid waste management in the cities of Astana and Almaty of Kazakhstan and evaluation of alternative management scenarios. Nazarbayev University. Retrieved November 28, 2021, from https://research.nu.edu.kz/en/publications/current-municipal-solid-waste-management-in-the-cities-of-astana--2.
- Introduction of Non-woven Shopping Bags in Kabul City. (2012). The GEF Small Grants Programme. <a href="https://sgp.undp.org/spacial-itemid-projects-landing-page/spacial-itemid-project-search-results/spacial-itemid-project-detailpage.html?view=projectdetail&id=20207">https://sgp.undp.org/spacial-itemid-projects-landing-page/spacial-itemid-project-search-results/spacial-itemid-project-detailpage.html?view=projectdetail&id=20207</a>
- Karini, A. (2008). Building Citizen Centered Policy-Making: Global

  Perspectives and Best Practices. *Institute for Democracy and Mediation*.

  <a href="https://moodle.nu.edu.kz/pluginfile.php/350626/mod\_resource/content/1/citizen\_centred\_policy\_making.en\_2008.pdf">https://moodle.nu.edu.kz/pluginfile.php/350626/mod\_resource/content/1/citizen\_centred\_policy\_making.en\_2008.pdf</a>
- Kok, G., & Siero, S. (1985). Tin recycling: Awareness, comprehension, attitude, intention and behavior. *Journal of economic psychology*, *6*(2), 157-173.

- Kotler, P., & Zaltman, G. (1971). Social Marketing: An Approach to Planned Social Change. *Journal of Marketing*, *35*(3), 3. <a href="https://doi.org/10.2307/1249783">https://doi.org/10.2307/1249783</a>
- Lee, D., & Krieger, J. L. (2020). Moving from Directives toward Audience
  Empowerment: A Typology of Recycling Communication Strategies of
  Local Governments. *Sustainability*, 12(7), 2722.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.3390/su12072722">https://doi.org/10.3390/su12072722</a>
- LLP "Extended Producer Responsibility Operator". (2018). Report on the implementation of the extended commitments manufacturers, importers. (2018). https://recycle.kz/storage/app/media/main/otchet4.pdf
- Management practices of MSW in developing countries. (2016). *Municipal Solid Waste Management in Developing Countries*, 61–74. https://doi.org/10.1201/9781315369457-14
- Manchenko, Y. V. (2018). Environmental Consequences of Unauthorized Household Waste Dumps. *Bulletin of Contemporary Studies*. Published.
- McGuire, W. J. (1974). Persuasion, resistance, and attitude change. *Handbook of Communications*. Chicago: Rand McNally.
- Medeuov, J., Kudaibergenov, R., & Kapparov, K. (2017). *Communication policy Republic of Kazakhstan: Current state development prospects*. Institute for Eurasian Integration.
- Mellouli, S., Luna-Reyes, L. F., & Zhang, J. (2014). Smart government, citizen participation and open data. *Information Polity*, *19*(1,2), 1–4. https://doi.org/10.3233/ip-140334
- Miafodzyeva, S., & Brandt, N. (2012). Recycling behaviour among householders: Synthesizing determinants via a meta-analysis. *Waste and Biomass Valorization*, 4(2), 221–235. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12649-012-9144-4
- Nair, B., Janenova, S., & Serikbayeva, B. (2019). *A Primer on Policy Communication in Kazakhstan*. Springer Publishing.

- Nurtazina, R. (2011). Republic of Kazakhstan: Media & Politics. Training manual.
- Organization of Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) (2017).

  Fostering Green Growth. In *Reforming Kazakhstan: Progress*,

  Challenges, and Opportunities (pp. 63–94). Global Relations Eurasia.
- Rasila, B. N., & Mudau, M. J. (2013). Citizen Participation in Local Government: The Importance of Effective Communication in Rural Development. *International Journal of Community Development*, *1*(1). https://doi.org/10.11634/233028791301321
- Reams, M. A., & Ray, B. H. (1993). The effects of three prompting methods on recycling participation rates: a field study. *Journal of Environmental Systems*, 22(4).
  - Retrieved March 13, 2022, from https://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/STUD/2017/581913/EP RS\_STU%282017%29581913\_EN.pdf
- Rousta, K., Ordoñez, I., Bolton, K., & Dahlén, L. (2017). Support for designing waste sorting systems: A mini review. Waste Management & Research, 35(11), 1099–1111. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/0734242X17726164">https://doi.org/10.1177/0734242X17726164</a>
- Sapozhnikova, G. (2017). *The End of the "Garbage Civilization": Ways to Solve the Waste Problem.* Representation of Oxfam in the Russian Federation.
- Sharkov F., (2012). *Fundamentals of Communication Theory*. Information, Management and Business.
- Sim, N. M., Wilson, D. C., Velis, C. A., & Smith, S. R. (2013). Waste management and recycling in the former Soviet Union: The City of Bishkek, Kyrgyz Republic (Kyrgyzstan). Waste Management & Research: The Journal for a Sustainable Circular Economy, 31(10\_suppl), 106–125. https://doi.org/10.1177/0734242x13499813
- Singh, A., & Sushil. (2017). Developing a conceptual framework of waste management in the o organizational context. *Management of*

- Environmental Quality: An International Journal, 28(6), 786–806. https://doi.org/10.1108/meq-07-2016-0045
- Skryhan, H., Shilova, I., Khandogina, O., Abashyna, K., & Chernikova, O. (2018). Waste management in post-soviet countries: how far from the EU?.
- Solid Waste Management and Renewable Energy Sources. (2018, June 7). Carececo.Org. <a href="https://carececo.org/en/main/news/CAIEF2018-3/">https://carececo.org/en/main/news/CAIEF2018-3/</a>
- Statistics of Environment. (2021). Agency for Strategic Planning and Reforms of the Republic of Kazakhstan Bureau of National Statistics.

  https://stat.gov.kz/official/industry/157/statistic/7
- Taylor, E. H. (1988). Consumer Reaction to Solid Waste Problems and Regulations. *The Procter & Gamble Company, a report on work in progress*.
- The Constitution of the Republic of Kazakhstan. Section II, cl. 33 (2011-2023) https://constitution.kz/
- Tokayev, K.J. (2019). President of Kazakhstan Kassym-Jomart Tokayev's State of the Nation Address, September 2, 2019 Official Website of the President of the Republic of Kazakhstan. Akorda.kz. Retrieved November, 2021, from <a href="https://www.akorda.kz/en/addresses/addresses\_of\_president/president-of-kazakhstan-kassym-jomart-tokayevs-state-of-the-nation-address-september-2-2019">https://www.akorda.kz/en/addresses/addresses\_of\_president/president-of-kazakhstan-kassym-jomart-tokayevs-state-of-the-nation-address-september-2-2019</a>.
- *Uzbekistan introduced a ban on free plastic bags*.(2018. May 22). Retail & Loyalty. <a href="https://retail-loyalty.org/news/v-uzbekistane-vveli-zapret-na-besplatnye-polietilenovye-pakety/">https://retail-loyalty.org/news/v-uzbekistane-vveli-zapret-na-besplatnye-polietilenovye-pakety/</a>
- Vining, J., & Ebreo, A. (1990). What Makes a Recycler? *Environment and Behavior*, 22(1), 55–73. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/0013916590221003">https://doi.org/10.1177/0013916590221003</a>
- Waste management in the EU European Parliamentary Research Service.(2017).

Waste Recycling: A Trend or Necessity to Improve the Country's Health. (2018, June 20). Analytical portal Strategy 2050. https://strategy2050.kz/ru/news/51543/

Yergaliyeva, A. (2019, July 19). *Kazakh President Establishes National Council to Strengthen Public's Engagement in Reform Agenda*. The Astana Times. Retrieved November, 2021, from <a href="https://astanatimes.com/2019/07/kazakh-president-establishes-national-council-to-strengthen-publics-engagement-in-reform-agenda/">https://astanatimes.com/2019/07/kazakh-president-establishes-national-council-to-strengthen-publics-engagement-in-reform-agenda/</a>.

### APPENDICES

Appendix 1. Questions for the survey of residents of the city of Astana

#### Introduction

Dear participant, we invite you to take part in a study on "Reduce, Reuse, Recycle: Government Recycling Communication Practice in Kazakhstan, The Case of Astana municipality". The study is conducted by master's students of the Nazarbayev University Graduate School of Public Policy.

#### Procedures.

The purpose of this study is to examine current communication practices conducted by the Akimat of Astana, and to determine the extent to which these practices contribute to raising citizen awareness of waste management issues and opportunities in Astana. If you agree to take part in this research project, you will be asked to fill out a questionnaire, which will take about 7 minutes to complete. All information you provide will be anonymous, so we would appreciate your honesty in answering each question in this survey.

#### Risks.

There are only minimal risks associated with this study. We remind you that your answers will remain anonymous, and you can withdraw from the study at any time without any consequences.

## Compensation.

No tangible compensation will be given.

## Confidentiality & Privacy.

The survey will not collect information that may reveal your identity, including your first name, last name, or IP address. Any data collected in this survey will be securely stored in accordance with Nazarbayev University's Research Data Management Policy. This data will not be shared with anyone outside the research team. Summarized anonymous results of this survey may be presented at a conference or published.

# **Voluntary Nature of the Study.**

Participation in this study is strictly voluntary, and if consent to participate has been given, it can be withdrawn at any time without prejudice to the case.

#### Points of Contact.

It is understood that if you have questions or comments about this project, you should contact Akbota Amantay (akbota.amanta@nu.edu.kz. ) and Aminanur Chaia (aminanur.chaia@nu.edu.kz). Any other questions or concerns can be directed to the Nazarbayev University Institutional Research Ethics Committee, resethics@nu.edu.kz.

#### **Statement of Consent.**

By clicking "I agree" below you are indicating that you are at least 18 years old, have read and understood this consent form and agree to participate in this research study.

- 1. Your age.
- 18-25
- 26-35
- 36-50
- 51-60
- 60 and up
  - 2. Your gender.
- Male
- Female
- Other
  - 3. How long have you been living in Astana? (How many months or how many years).
  - 4. What district of Astana do you live in?

- Esil district
- Saryarka district
- Almaty district
- Baikonur district
- 5. What kind of housing do you live in?
  - Apartment complex (built after 2010)
  - Apartment complex (built before 2010)
  - Private house
  - Soviet Panel House
- 6. If you have chosen an apartment complex option, please specify the name of the apartment complex where you live.
- 7. Household size?
- 8. Do you recycle?
- 9. If yes, what kind of waste?
- 10. Assess how aware you are of recycling?
- 11. Do you know about the recycling program of Akimat of Astana city?
- 12. From what source of information did you learn about it?
  - Social media, internet
  - TV, radio
  - Banners, posters
  - Other
- 13. If you answered "Other" in your previous question, please specify.
- 14. Have you ever participated in the recycling process?

- 15. Do you want to participate in recycling?
- 16. Do you know about the color separation of garbage cans for garbage sorting?
- 17. Do you have colored (yellow, green) recycling garbage cans near your home?
- 18. What type of trash should you put in the yellow bin?
  - Plastic
  - Waste wood
  - Ceramic dishes
  - Metal
  - Glass
  - Hygiene products
  - Paper
  - Household Appliances
  - Food waste
  - Textiles, leather
- 19. What type of trash should be thrown in the gray and/or green bins?
  - Plastic
  - Waste wood
  - Ceramic dishes
  - Metal
  - Glass
  - Hygiene products
  - Paper

- Household Appliances
- Food waste
- Textiles, leather
- 20. How do you evaluate the work of the Akimat of Astana in informing citizens about recycling?
  - 1
  - 2
  - 3
  - 4
  - 5
- 21. Do you have any suggestions for improving recycling awareness practices in the city?

Appendix 2. Questions for interviews with officials of the Astana City Akimat.

- 1. How is waste recycling being implemented in Astana?
- 2. Do you think it is important to increase awareness among the citizens about recycling?
- 3. What tools do you have to inform people about the importance of recycling?
- 4. What kind of publicity do you use to increase awareness on the importance of recycling and the recycling program in Astana?
- 5. Do you use social media to inform the public about recycling? If yes, how?
- 6. Do you have different communication tools for different groups of people such as low income households, elderly etc?

# Appendix 3. Questions for interviews with private companies and eco-activists.

- 1. Do you know about the recycling program of Astana city Akimat?
- 2. How did you find out about this program?
- 3. How do you evaluate this program?
- 4. How do you evaluate the work of the Akimat in informing citizens about recycling?
- 5. Do you know what recycling communication tools the Akimat of Astana uses?
- 6. What could be done to improve the recycling communication practices in Astana?